ll. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

The Board of Review erred in affirming the decision of the Office of Judges dated May 

August 18,2016, in which the Office ofJudges reversed the Claims Administrator's Order dated 

April 29, 2016, and held the claim compensable for an U-5 herniated disc. (Exhibits A, B, and 

C). The preponderance of the substantial, probative, and reliable evidence of record clearly 

demonstrates that the claimant suffered from longstanding pre-existing degenerative conditions 

which intervally developed into what appeared to be an IAt5 disc herniation. Both, Dr. Luchs 
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and Dr. SouIsby, compared the claimant's MRls, one taken in 2009 and the more recent one 

taken in 2016, and individually concluded that the studies demonstrate the typical progression of 

degenerative disc disease. Both physicians concluded the claimant's conditions of his lumbar 

spine to be chronic in nature and not traumatic in origin. 

The claimant did not even initially indicate that he hurt his back on April 6, 2016, either 

to bis employer or bis treating physician. He initially reported to bis treating physician on April 

7,2016 thatbisjob as a miner involves "a lot of twisting and turning" and that's what caused bis 

latest flare-up. The claimant also reported to his employer that he didn't know what he had done 

to bis back. The claimant reported that "[h]e has had mild discomfort pain on and off for years." 

The claimant attributed bis back pain to "the normal wear and tear of working" and that ''he 

didn't do anything but work and go home so it must have happened here" at work. The mine 

foreman provided testimony that the claimant always complained about his back but "assured us 

that he is fine and that it is from a previous injury from when he was younger." It wasn't until 

twelve (12) days later, on April 18, 2016, that the claimant first alleged that he sustained an 

injury at work while operating a motor car and he hit a rough patch. 

The employer does not dispute that the claimant experienced an exacerbation of a pre

existing condition on April 6, 2016. In his report, Dr. SouIsby indicates that that is what most 

likely happened. However, the exacerbation of hitting a rough patch while operating the motor 

car did not canse an L4/5 herniation or any of the degenerative changes to his lumbar spine. 

Well-settled workers' compensation law in West Virginia requires that claimant demonstrate by 

a preponderance of the evidence that the claimant's disability actually resulted from the 

claimant's employment. There is no reliable evidence that the claimant sustained an injury 

during the course of and resulting from his employment. There is however an overwhelming 
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amount of evidence demonstrating that the claimant suffered from longstanding pre-existing 

degenerative conditions· that naturally progressed into what appeared to be a chronic disc 

herniation. The Board of Review, as well as The Office of Judges, ignored well-established 

workers' compensation law resulting in a decision that is clearly wrong in light of the facts and 

evidence ofrecord in this claim. 

Accordingly, the employer requests this Court to REVERSE and VACATE the Board of 

Review Order dated January 20, 2017 and REINSTATE the Claims Administrator's Order dated 

April 29, 2016, denying the claim. 

m. MOTION TO REMAND 

In the alternative, the employer requests that this Court REMAND this claim back to the 

Office of Judges for a full and complete development of the evidentiary record related to the 

compensable condition(s) in this claim. 

This claim was subject to an expedited process, which prevented full and complete 

discovery before being submitted for final decision. As a result, the Office ofJudges erroneously 

reversed the Claims Administrator's Order dated Apri129, 2016, rejecting the claim, and held the 

claim compensable for an IA-L5 disc herniation, a decision which was thereafter affirmed by 

this Board. However, evidence has recently come to light, evidence that was not available at the 

time when this claim was initially decided, demonstrating that the claimant did not sustain a disc 

herniation at all, but instead suffered from a degenerative asymmetrical bulge. The details are as 

follows: 

When this issue was initially before the Office of Judges, the claimant requested an 

expedited process. By notice dated June 27, 2016, the Office of Judges granted the claimant's 
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request and set the claimant's protest for expedited hearing in Beckley, thereby limiting 

evidentiary development to thirty (30) days. By Motion dated July 7, 2016, the employer 

requested that the claimant's protest be removed from the expedited process as the litigation 

involved complex medical issues, requiring extensive evidentiary development and expert 

consultation which couId not possibly be completed within the expedited timeframe. (Exhibit 

D). However, by order dated July 15, 2016, the Office of Judges erroneously denied the 

employer's motion to remove the issue from the expedited process arguing that because the issue 

is not one involving hearing loss or occupational pneumoconiosis that it was not a complex claim 

warranting the removal from the expedited process. (Exhibit E). Due to the Office of Judges' 

refusal to acknowledge the complex nature of the claim and the extensive evidentiary 

development necessary to fully discover the facts and circumstances surrounding this claim, the 

interests of the employer have been prejudiced. 

As noted above, evidence has recently come to light, evidence that was not available at 

the time when this claim was initially decided, demonstrating that the claimant did not sustain a 

disc herniation at all, but instead suffered from a degenerative asymmetrical bulge. 

On January 24, 2017, orthopedic surgeon, Dr. David SouIsby issued an Independent 

Medical Evaluation ("1MB") report. (Exhibit F). In preparation for his evaluation of the 

claimant, Dr. SouIsby review updated medical records, which were unavailable at the time of the 

expedited hearing, including the operative report by Dr. Ophanos dated June 24,2016 and a post 

operative MRI taken in January 2017. (Exhibit G). Dr. SouIsby had previously issued a record 

review report on July 15, 2016, in which he suspected that the claimant suffered from an L4-L5 

asymmetrical bulge and not a herniation, however upon review of Dr. Ophanos's operative 

report Dr. Soulsbywas able to conclusively state in his January 24,2017 report: 
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Previously, I performed a record review including my personal 
evaluation of the MRI images. The MRI images did not 
demonstrate an extruded fragment of disc or a disc herniation at 
L4-5. They demonstrated an asymmetric bulging disc at L4-5 
which was creating nerve root impingement. A bulging disc is 
found in the face of degenerative disc disease and is not indicative 
of a disc space injury. In support of this observation I offer the fact 
that Dr. Ophanos failed to observe a herniated disc at the time of 
surgery but indicates that he had to enter into the disc space to find 
disc fragments. His description clearly indicates that he was 
operating on a bulging or degenerative disc. In addition, the 
radiographic studies were evaluated by Dr. Luchs. This board 
certified radiologist detennined that the MRI studies demonstrated 
the interval progression of degenerative disc disease at L4-5 and 
LS-S 1 consistent with the timing between the 2 MRIs. There were 
no acute findings of injury. Finally, the claimant obviously was 
seeking medical attention for similar complaints less than one 
month prior to the alleged injury. There is no doubt that he has 
significant pre-existing degenerative disc disease and that that 
degenerative disc disease is causing pain. There is no evidence of 
disc injury from April 6, 2016. 

As Dr. Soulby indicates in his January 24,2017 report, this claim has been erroneously 

ruled compensable for an L4-L5 disc herniation when there never truly was a herniation. In the 

court's haste to reach a timely decision, the employer was deprived of the necessary amount of 

time to complete discovery, and as a result, this claim has been erroneously ruled compensable 

for an L4-LS herniation in a claim in which there never was a herniation. 

In light of new evidence, that was not available when the claim was originally ruled 

upon, the only logical remedy is to remand the claim back to the Office of Judges" for further 

evidentiary development. Accordingly, the employer requests that this Court SET ASIDE the 

Board of Review Order dated January 20,2017, and REMAND the claim. back to the Office of 

JudgeS for further evidentiary development. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
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The claimant herein, Jimmie Lemon, is presently forty-three (43) years old and was 

employed by Arch Coal as a general inside laborer on the alleged date ofinjury. 

The employer requests that this Court take judicial notice of the W.Va. Office of 

Insurance Commissioners' Claims Index, which reveals that the claimant has filed nine (9) prior 

Workers' Compensation claims in West Virginia, three (3) or more of which involve the 

claimant's low back. 

JeNNo. Claim No. DOl Body part(s) Award 
940056901 940056901 06/15/1994 Finger-right hand 
2000040239 2000040239 07/20/1999 Eye injury 
2003023664 2003023664 10/18/2002 Back injury 
2008004354 2007022933 07/20/2007 Fingers 
2008045119 2008017090 05127/2008 Elbow-multiple 
2011004538 2033308 07128/2010 No physical injury 
2011006199 2010014040 07/28/2010 Multiple 
2009082220 014711454PER234314129Q 03/0512009 Back 4daysofTTD 
2009082943 2009005938 03/05/2009 Low Back 

Medical records from these prior claims demonstrate that the claimant had reported 

compIamts regarding his low back pre-dating the injury by quite some time. For instance, records 

from claim number 2009082220, which were submitted into evidence by the employer, 

demonstrate a pre-existing diagnosis of multiple dislocated discs and low back radiculitis. 

(Exhibit 8). Another example is a record from Chipley Chiropractic dated April 10, 2015, 

approximately one year prior to the alleged date of injury in the instant claim, in which Dr. 

McMillen reports a visit in which the claimant presented with complaints ofneck pain, mid back 

pain, low back pain, and headache. (Exhibit I). Dr. McMillen noted: 

Patient enters today with increase CITHILBP [cervical, thoracic, 
and low back pain] that has been going on for 2-3 weeks. Patient 
states that it is just like it used to be when he came in here 
before. Patient has been to many doctors for this problem since 
seeing me. Patient went to Dr. Patel and he states that he did not 
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need surgery at this point so he sent him to Dr. Kominsky for 
adjustments. 

The claimant's diagnoses were listed as: MS4.12 radiculopathy of the cervical region, MS4.16 

radiculopathy of lumbar region, M99.01 segmental and somatic dysfunction of cervical region, 

M99.02 segmental and somatic dysfunction of thoracic region, and M99.03 segmental and 

somatic dysfunction of lumbar region. The claimant underwent chiropractic manipulation and e

stimulation focusing on C7-Tl and L4-5. 

Regarding the instant claim, on April 6, 2016 at approximately 8:30 p.m., the claimant 

notified his supervisor that he was experiencing back pain would be leaving early, so he could 

get up and go to the doctor the next morning. 

On April 7, 2016, the claimant presented to Dr. Kominsky in Beckley with complaints of 

low back pain. (Exhibit J). Dr. Kominsky's April 7, 2016 treatment record states: 

The patient enters today with moderate to severe pain in his mid 
and lower back. He said his lower back pain can be severe at times 
and prevent him from standing straight up and sitting for long 
periods of time. He has had mild discomfort pain on and off for 
years but this episode is the most intense and the most 
debilitating. The patient also complains of right leg pain which he 
has not had previously and he describes it as a shooting type pain 
that can go into his lower leg causing burning, numbness, and 
tingling. He does work as an underground miner in 8-10 hour 
shifts. His work requires that he does a lot of heavy lifting and 
twisting. 

The claimant failed to report any injury to Dr. Kominsky, who noted that the claimant was 

merely experiencing a flare-up of a pre-existing condition. 

The claimant presented for work later that same day, In a written statement dated April 

7,2016 (Exhibit K), General Mine Foreman, Ronald Price, recorded the day's events as: 
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Jimmy Lemon came into my office with a modified work slip from 
the doctor's office, he was moving slow with a noticeable limp. He 
wanted to talk to me and Kenny Evans and I asked him what was 
wrong. He said his back was killing him so he went to the doctor, 
and the doctor wanted him to take it easy at work. I asked Jimmy 
what he had done to his back, he said he didn't know. I told 
Jimmy I couldn't let him do his normal job with a modified slip 
because modified is not a good description of limitations and I 
didn't feel comfortable with him going underground the way he 
looked. I told him to contact us when he got back from his next 
doctor's visit. 

On April 13, 2016, the claimant underwent an MRI of the lumbar spine at Raleigh 

General Hospital, which showed what appeared to be a right disc herniation and disc bulge at 

L4-5 causing foraminal stenosis compressing on the right L4 nerve root. (Exhibit L). 

The claimant appeared at work later that same day on April 13, 2016 to fill out an 

accident report. Mine manager, Kenneth Evans, signed a hand-written statement dated April 13, 

2016 (Exhibit M), in which he stated: 

On April l3, 2016, Jimmy Lemon came in and said he wanted to 
fill out an accident report. I asked him why he has never said 
anything before this. He said the MRI shows bulged disc, pinched 
nerve. I asked him when it happened. He said it was hard to 
put a date on it. Just the normal wear and tear of working. All 
he ever does is work and sit on the couch. He said he used to 
ride 4 wheelers all the time. So it must have happened here. 

General Mine Foreman, Ronald Price, also signed hand-written statement dated April l3, 2016 

(Exhibit N), describing the events of that day: 

Jimmy Lemon came in saying he wanted to fill an accident report 
out. I asked Jimmy when he had been injured and why he hadn't 

--said anything about-burting himself. Jimmy stated he didn't 
know how to put a date on years ofwear and tear but he didn't 
do anything but work and go home so it must have happened 
here. 
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The assistant general mine foreman, Donnie Crwn (Exhibit 0), also signed a hand

written statement on April 13, 2016 stating: 

Jimmy Lemon has always moved as ifhis back was hurting him. 
We have asked him many times if he was okay? Jimmy has 
always assured us that he is fine and that this is from a 
previous injury from when he was younger. Jimmy has never 
come to me and stated that the job that he was performing caused 
him to be injured in any way. On 4-1-16 while working out by on 
ISec I asked him again if he was Okay. Jimmy stated that he was 
fine and did not hurt his back while on the job here at Arch. 

On April 18,2016, the claimant present to Dr. Orphanos, who noted that the claimant 

was seen for consultation for intervertebral disc disorders with radicu10pathy in the lumbar 

region. (Exhibit Pl. Dr. Orphanos noted that the claimant had injured his back when operating 

equipment and bounced in his seat. This is the first time that the claimant alleged an injury. 

Up until this visit with Dr. Orphanos, the claimant reported that he did not know when his back 

began to hurt, that he had back problems intermittently for years, and that he was experiencing a 

flare-up of an old back injury and/or condition. 

The claimant completed an Employees' and Physicians' Report of Injury (WC-I) on 

April 20, 2016, in which he alleges that he sustained an injury to his lower back on April 6,2016 

when he was ''running supply motor car, rough road, hit a hole and bounced me out ofseat" on 

April 6, 2016 at approximately 3 :20 p.m. (Exhibit Q). Section IT was signed by Dr. Kominsky of 

Independent Medical Services in Becldey on April 19, 2016, who indicated that the claimant 

sustained an injury to his lumbar spine. Dr. Kominsky checked the box indicating that it was an 

occupational injury and took the claimant off-work from April 7, 2016 through May 28,2016. 

Dr. Kominsky noted on the foDD. "MRI indicates a new injury at IA-L5 with nerve root 

compression! DID at L5-Sl." 
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By Order dated April 29, 2016, the Clalins Administrator denied the claimant's 

application for benefits as no injury was incurred within the course of and resulting from the 

claimant's employment. (See Exhibit C). The clainlant protested this Order. 

In support of bis protest the claimant submitted a voluminous amount of evidence 

documenting treatment for what was thought to be a herniated L4-5 disc. 

ill support of the Order dated April 29, 2016, denying the claimant's application for 

benefits, the employer submitted: 

• 	 Records from the claimant's previously filed workers' compensation claims, 
claim nos. 2003023664 and 200908220, which demonstrate a longstanding 
history of complaints of low back pain pre-dating the alleged injury by several 
years (Exhibit R); 

• 	 Records from claim no. 2009082220, which demonstrate a pre-existing diagnosis 
ofmultiple dislocated discs and low back radiculitis (See Exhibit H); 

• 	 A treatment record from Dr. McMillen dated April 10, 2015, approximately one 
year prior to the date of the alleged date of injury in this claim, in which the 
claimant presented with complaints of neck pain, mid back pain, low back pain, 
and headache. (See Exhibit 1). Dr. McMillen noted: 

Patient enters today with increase CrrHlLBP [cervical, 
thoracic, and low back pain] that has been going on for 2-3 
weeks. Patient states that it is just like it used to be 
when he came in here before. Patient has been to many 
doctors for this problem since seeing me. Patient went to 
Dr. Patel and he states that he did not need surgery at this 
point so he sent him to Dr. Kaminsky for adjustments. 

• 	 A treatment record from Dr. McMillen dated March 18, 2016 (Exhibit S), 
approximately three (3) weeks prior to the alleged date of injury, in which the 
claimant reported to Dr. McMillen for complaints of neck pain, mid back pain, 
and low back pain. Dr. McMillen noted: 

Patient enters today with increase MID-LBP [low back 
pain] radiating into bilateral shoulder blades and bilateral 
hips/legs. Patient states that he woke up with the pain 
and it has gotten worse throughout the day. Patient is 
unsure of cause of flare-up and denies any new injury. 
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• 	 A treatment record from Dr. McMillen dated March 25, 2016 (Exhibit T), 
approximately two (2) weeks prior to the alleged date of injury, due to complaints 
ofincreasing pain of the claimant's cervical, thoracic, and lumbar spine; 

• 	 The written statements by General Mine Foreman, Ronald Price; Mine Manager, 
Kenneth Evans; and Assistant Foreman, Donnie Crum (See Exhibits K, M, and 
N); 

• 	 A lumbar MR.I report from March 1, 2009 which shows degenerative bulging 
intervertebral discs at the L4-S and L5-S 1 levels with mild encroachment on 
bilateral L4-51ateral recess and L5-SIlateral (Exhibit U); 

• 	 A lumbar MRI report from April 13, 2016, which shows what appears to be a 
chronic disc herniation at the IA-5 level that's causing foraminal stenosis 
compressing the right IA nerve root (See Exhibit L); 

• 	 An aging analysis report from Diagnostic Dating Specialists dated July 26,2016 
(Exhibit V), in which Dr. Luchs re-read the claimant's March 1, 2009 lumbar 
MRI and found: 

[T]his MRI of the hnnbar spine demonstrates degenerative 
disc disease with degenerative disc bulges resulting in 
encroachment of the bilateral lateral recesses at L4/S and 
LS/S1, along with mild facet arthropathy L4/5 and LSIS1, 
which are all chronic degenerative processes. Degenerative 
disc disease at TI2IL1 and Schmorl's nodes are evident as 
well. 

• 	 A comparison report from Diagnostic Dating Specialists dated July 26, 2016 
(Exhibit W), in which Dr. Luchs compared the two studies, the lumbar MRI 
taken on March 1, 2009 and the lumbar MRI taken on April 13, 2016, and 
concluded: 

[T]he MRI of the lumbar spine dated 4113/2016 is 
relatively unchanged from the prior exam dated 31112009 
with the exception of typical progression of degenerative 
disc disease and interval development ofwhat appears to be 
chronic disc herniation at IAIS on the MRI dated 4/13116. 

The employer also submitted the medical record review report by orthopedic surgeon, Dr. 

David Soulsby, 'dated July 15, 2016 (Exhibit X), in which Dr. Soulsby, reviewed the claimant's 

MRIs and concluded: 
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I have personally reviewed the MRI scan of the lumbar spine from 
March 1, 2009. The study demonstrates degenerative disc changes 
at T12-Ll. Mild degenerative disc disease is present at U-S and 
LS-Sl. The disc bulge at L4-5 is mildly asymmetrical being more 
prominent toward the right neural foramen.

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