TO THE HONORABLE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS: 

The Respondent. Jimmie J. Lemon, respectfully represents that this is his response 

to the Petitioner/Employer's appeal from the final decision dated January 20, 2017. of the 

Workers' Compensation Board of Review, which affirmed the Office of Judges' decision 

dated August 18, 2016, which reversed the claim administrators order of April 29,2016, 

rejecting the claim, and held the claim compensable for hemiated disc at the L4-5 level. 

INTRODUCTORY NOTE 

The Respondent, Jimmie L. Lemon, will be referred to as Claimant; the Workers' 

Compensation Board of Review will be referred to as BOR; the Office of Judges will be

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Initially, the claimant notes that he did have a prior compensable low back injury in 

2009. For that injury he was seen by Dr. Rajesh Patel, orthopedic surgeon, on 

February 23, 2009 and March 18,2009, the only treatment visits the claimant had for 

the 2009 injury. [Appendix 1 & 2] He also had an MRI of the lumbar spine taken at 

Raleigh General Hospital on March 1, 2009. [Appendix 3] That study revealed mild 

disc bulging at L4-5 and LS-S1, but no intervertebral disc herniation. Following the two 

visits with Dr. Patel and the MRI study, he was released to full duty employment; 

returned to work and was steadily employed until the instant Injury. Additionally, the 

claimant did obtain chiropractic treatment from Dr. Melissa McMillen of Chipley 
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Chiropractic on a number of occasions prior to the instant injury; however, during such 

treatment he continued to work regularly and the Chipley records clearly show that 

treatment was not for any intelVening injury. [Appendix 4] 

The instant claim involves an injury to the claimant's low back that occurred while 

he was operating a supply motor and traveling across rough terrain while working 

underground on April 6,2016: He was "bounced" from his se.at and felt immediate low 

back pain. Before the shift ended he reported the incident to his supervisor. He left the 

mine site and initially went to Dr. Michael Kaminsky the next day foliowing the injury 

(April 7, 2016). 

In a narrative report dated April 7, 2016, Dr. Kaminsky noted that the claimant 

entered today with "moderate to severe" pain in his mid and low back. Dr. Kominsky's 

assessment was right L5-S1 disc protrusion with root compression, lumbar/pelvis/sacral 

joint dysfunctions and lumbar facet syndrome. [Appendix 5] Dr. Kaminsky 

recommended an MRI and a lower extremity nerve conduction study. Dr. Kaminsky 

also recommended physical therapy. 

On April 13, 2016, the claimant did have an MRI of the lumbar spine performed 

at Raleigh General Hospital. [Appe~dix 6] That study was reported by the radiologist 

as showing a right lateral disc herniation and disc bulge at L4-5 causing right foraminal 

encroachment and nelVe root sheath impingement. 

Following the MRI study, the claimant went to the employer's mine site and 

completed an incident report on April 18,2016. [Appendix 7] The claimant also 
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completed and submitted a WC-2 form into the record. The claimant attempted to 

obtain a copy of the incident form from the employer without success. 

In his written statement dated April 7. 2016, Ronald Price, General Mine 

Foreman, noted the claimant walked slowly into his office with a noticeable limp. 

[Appendix 8] Mr. Price stated that the claimant had a modified duty work slip [from Dr. 

Kominsky}. Mr. Price noted that he told the claimant that he could not let him do his 

normal job with a modified slip and it was not appropriate for him to go back 

underground to work. 

In his written statement dated April 13. 2016, Kenneth Evans. Mine Manager, 

noted that the claimant provided with a modified duty slip on April 7, 2016 and wanted to 

fill out an accident report. [Appendix 9] Mr. Evans stated that the claimant's injury was 

the result of working even though he could not give an exact injury date. Mr. Evans 

stated that the claimant decided to file a workers' compensation claim after he became 

aware of the MRI study results. 

In his written statement dated April 13. 2015, Donnie Crum. Assistant General 

Mine Foreman. indicated that the claimant always moved as if his back was hurting and 

that he replied that he was okay when someone asked him how he was doing . . 
[Appendix 10] 

On April 13, 2016, Ronald Price provided another statement. Mr. Price noted 

that the c1aimarit came into the mine office to fill out an accident report after having an 

MRI performed which revealed a bulging disc and pinched nerves. [Appendix 11] 
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Dr. Orphanos, a neurosurgeon, saw the claimant on April 18, 2016. Dr. 

Orphanos noted the claimant's symptoms and reported "The patient has had this since 

April 6. 2016 when he was operating a piece of equipment and bounced in the seat." 

[Appendix 12] 

The Employees' and Physicians' Report of Injury was completed by Dr. Kominsky 

on April 19, 2016. [Appendix 13] The report indicated that the claimant injured his 

lower back while running a supply motor on rough road, hit a hole and it bounced him 

out of his seat. Dr. Kominsky opined that the MRI study supported a new injury at L4-5 

with nerve root compression was noted. Dr. Kominsky advised the claimant to remain 

off work from April 7, 2016 through May 28, 2016 and he referred the claimant to Dr. 

John Orphanos. In Section II of the E!:l1ployees' and Physicians' Report of Injury, Dr. 

Kaminsky noted that the claimant's injury was directly related to an "occupational injury" 

and that this injury did not aggravate a prior condition. Dr. Kaminsky also indicated on 

the WC-1 form that the MRI showed a new injury at L4-5 with nerve root compression. 

On April 27, 2016, Dr. Kaminsky provided the claimant with a work excuse 

indicating ttiat the claimant would be unable to work from. April 27, 2016 through May 

18,2016. [Appendix 14] 

The CA, however, rejected the claimant's claim by Order dated April 29, 2016, 

which the claimant timely protested.· [Appendix 15] The CA's purported basis for the 

rejection is stated as "...our investigation supports there was no injury that occurred out 

of the course and scope of your employment." 
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On May 12, 2016, Dr. Kominsky provided the claimant with a work excuse 

. indicating that the claimant would be unable to work from May 12,2016 through June 2, 

2016. [Appendix 16] 

On May 18, 2016, Dr. Mathew Walker, an orthopaedic surgeon of Neurological 

Associates, Inc., performed a right lumbar L4 transforaminal epidural steroid injection 

because of the claimant's severe low back pain. [Appendix 17] 

On May 31, 2016, Dr. Kominsky provided the claimant with a work excuse 

indicating that he would be unable to work from May 31, 2016 through June 14, 2016. 

[Appendix 18] 

On June 2, 2016, the claimant followed up with Dr. Orphanos who noted that the 

claimant's transforaminal injection of the right L4 did not provide any pain relief and 

proposed surgery. [Appendix 19] 

On June 22, 2016, Dr. Orphanos provided a work excuse indicating thatth~ 

claimant would be unable. to work until from June 22, 2016 through July 7, 2016. 

[Appendix 20] 

The claimant consented to surgery and . on June 24, 2016, Dr. Orphanos 

performed a right L4-5 far lateral discectomy at Charleston Area Medical Center. 

[Appendix 21] On June 30,2016, Dr. Orphanos treated the claimant and indicated 

that the claimant would be unable to work from June 30, 2016 through July 15, 2016. 

[Appendix 22] 

On July 14, 2016, the claimant was seen by Dr. Orphanos for severe pain and 

further dysfunction in his low back. [Appendix 23] 
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The employer had the claimant's medical records reviewed by Dr. David Soulsby 

who prepared a report dated July 15, 2016, wherein he opined that the claimant had 

lumbar degenerative disc disease and that the claimant's herniated disc was chronic in 

nature. [Appendix 24} Dr. Soulsby interjected a non-medical opinion into his report 

when he opIned that if there had been an acute injury, then a reasonable claimant 

would have reported such an incident. Dr. Soulsby did not personally examine the 

claimant and failed to note that the claimant to his supervisor of the incident before the 

shift ended on April 6, 2016. 

The claimant's testimony was adduced at an expedited hearing held on July 21, 

2016. [Appendix 25] The claimant described the manner in which he injured his low 

back on April 6, 2016. He also described the injury to his back in 2009 and noted that 

he was released by Dr. Patel to return to full duty and worked -regularly until the present 

injury. He also testified that his prior back problems were not severe and that he had no 

prior back surgery and that he had some treatment with Dr. Chipley was while he 

continued to work; He testrfied that the only MRI studies that he ever had was in 2009 

and 2016. He testified that he had not been able to return to work following the instant 

injury and remained under the care of Dr. Kaminsky and Dr. Orphanos and had not 

been released to return to work. 

The claimant's wife also testified at the hearing. She stated that the claimant 

came home early from work on April 6, 2016 and was in obvious pain. She testified that 

the claimant indicated to her that he injured his low back at work. 
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The employer proffered a comparison report Jonathan Luchs dated July 26, 

2016. [Appendix 26] The comparison was of the MRls taken on March 1, 2009 and 

April 13, 2016. Dr. Luchs opined that the MRls were relatively similar and did not reveal 

a change of the claimant's low back. 

The employer also proffered an Aging Analysis Report of the lumbar spine dated 

July 26, 2018, wherein Dr. Luchs concluded that the MRI taken on March 1, 2009 

demonstrated degenerative disc disease with degenerative disc bulges. [Appendix 271 

While it is a fact that the claimant did have a prior low back injury in 2009, it is 

also undisputed that he hao minimal treatment and worked regularly following that 

injury. It is also a fact that the 2009 MRI study did not reveal a disc herniation. The 

2016 MRI study, however, did show a disc herniation at L4-5 which was confirmed 

during the surgery performed by Dr. Orphanos. Thus, refutting utterly the opinion 

expressed by Dr. Luchs that the 2016 MRI study was basically the same as the 2009 

MRI study. 

Based upon this record, the issue was then submitted to the OOJ and by 

decision dated August 18, 2016, the CArs Order dated April 29, 2016, rejecting the 

claim, was reversed. [Appendix 28] The employer appealed this decision to the BOR. 

On January 20, 2017, the BOR affirmed the OOJ's Decision dated August 18, 2016. 

[Appendix 29] From the BOR's Decision the employer filed its petition for appeal. The 

claimant offers the instant response thereto. 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The ALJ's decision of August 18,2016, is well reasoned and did not contain any 

legal or factual errors allowing reversal. Thus, the January 20, 2017, decision of the 

BOR affirmed the holding of the ALJ, as it was not clearly wrong. Under this Court's 

holding in Conley v. Workers' Camp. Div., 199 W.Va. 196, 199,483 S.E.2d 542, 545 

(1997), a decision of the BOR cannot be reversed unless it is clearly wrong and the 

petitioner has not demonstrated such error on the part of the BOR. 

ARGUMENT 

The BOR's Order should be affirmed because a thorough review of the record 

substantiates the decision of the ALJ to hold the claim compensable for disc hemiation. 

The ALJ noted: 

It is found that the medical record establishes that after the 
alleged compensable injury an MRI on April 13~ 2016, 
establishes that the claimant had a right lateral disc 
herniation and bulge at L4-5 causing right foraminal 
encroachment and ne,rve root sheath impingement. This disc 
herniation could certainly explain claimant's allegations of 
severe low back pain running down the right leg which 
necessitated a right-sided lateral disc herniation at L4-5 on 
June 26, 2016. The claimanfs swam testimony noted that 
his shift was to be over at 12:20, but that at 8:30 p.m. he was 
running a solid rubber tire when he hit a bump that threw him 
out of his ~eat and he cam back down and had pain in his 
back and leg. He notes that he called his boss, Donnie 
Crum around 10:30 and told him he was leaving. He noted 
he had hurt himself a little bit. The claimant knew he had 
arthritis and he had been treated for back pain by Dr. 
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Kaminsky but indicated that most of the treatment was for 
mid-back, neck and shoulders. He notes his treatment after 
the April 6, 2016, alleged injury. He specifically disagreed 
with Donnie Crum's statement. The claimant noted that he 
talked to Mr. Crum over the radio and not in person when he 
told him about the little bit of an injury and left his shift early. 
It is noted that Mr. Crum's statement indicates that the 
claimant never came to him stating that the job he was 
performing caused him to be injured in any way. This 
wording could indicate the claimant did not physically see 
Mr. Crum and report any problem to Mr. Crum in person. 
The claimant's wife also testified the claimant came home 
three hours early that night and was in pain and noted that 
he had hurt his back and was going to the doctor the next 
day. 

*** 

In this claim, it is found that there is ~lightly more evidence 
that indicates that a compensable injury occurred that 
caused a herniated disc on April 6, 2016, than the 
contradictory point of view. One factual situation that is 
found to be positive for the claimant is that there was no 
contradictory evidence concerning the fact that the claimant 
had to leave work approximately two hours early on the day 
he alleged he was injured. Based upon the totality of the 
evidence it is found that it is more likely than not that the 
claimant experienced a compensable injury on April 6, 2016, 
which necessitated surgery on a herniated disc at L4-5. 

(August 18,2016 ALJ Dec. at 9)(emphasis added). 

The ALJ properly found that the claimant provided un-refuted evidence that he 

had to leave work before the end of the shift on the day of the alleged injury. The 

preponderance of the evidence shows that the sustained an isolated fortuitous event. 

Furthermore, the record is replete with diagnostic testing that shows that the claimant 

did not have a herniated disc prior to the instant injury. The claimant proffered two MRI 

studies into the record. The study of March 1, 2009 shows bulging discs but no 

9 



herniation. However, the April 13, 2016 study shows a disc herniation at the L4-5level. 

On the WC-1 form, Dr. Kaminsky specifically noted that the 2016 MRI finding 

represented a new injury. He also reported that the injury was "occupationally related". 

The 2016 MRI study indicates a new discreet injury disassociated with any prior low 

back problems. This new injury obviously occurred on April 6, 2016 when the claimant 

was "bounced" out of the seat of the supply motor he was operating underground. 

Furthermore, it is important to note that on page 7 of the Petitioner's brief, the 

employer misrepresents the 2016 MRI study by stating that: "A lumbar MRI report from 

April 13, 2016, which shows a chronic disc herniation at the l4-5 level that's causing 

foraminal stenosis compressing the right L4-nerve root;" however, a careful review of 

the MRI report show~ that it does not contain the word "chronic". The actual wording of 

the study is "Right lateral disc herniation and disc bulge at L4-5 causing right foraminal 

encroachment and nerve root sheath impingement." The Petitioners interlineation of 

"chronic" underscores the employer's position in the instant appeal. 

Thus, the employer's petition should be REFUSED, as it has failed to show that 

the BOR's decision is clearly wrong pursuant to Conley v. Workers' Camp. Div., 199 

W.Ve. 196,199,483 S.E.2d 542, 545 (1997). 

Additionally, the motion to remand was also made to the BOR and by Order 

dated March 3, 2017, the Employer's motion was denied. [Appendix 30] The basis for 

the Employer's contention that a remand should have been granted is the erroneous 

assertion that the cla.imant's low back condition and surgical intervention by Dr. 

Orphanos related to disc degeneration not disc herniation at the L4-L5 level. The 
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reality, however, and as pointed out by the BOR in the March 3, 2017 Order, is that Dr. 

Orphanos specifically stated that the post-operative diagnosis is right L4-L5 far lateral 

disc herniation. 

The Employer's contention regarding ifs motion for remand suggests an attempt 

to offer new evidence into the record on appeal, which is impermissible and the 

employer1s basis is also a fiction and mischaracterization of the findings related by Dr. 

Orphanos, the claimant's surgeon, who is in a better position than anyone to diagnose a 

disc herniation at the L4-L5level. 

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing, the claimant, Jimmie J. Lemon, 

respectfully requests that this Honorable Court REFUSE ·the employer's petition for 

appeal. 

Respectfully submitted, 
Jimmie J. Lemon 
By Counsel 

~f;>-~ 
REGINALD D. HENRY 
wv State Bar I. D. #: 4933